

Methodology and Evidence

(Federal and Provincial/Territorial)

Suggested citation: Farkouh, E., Price, T., Vallance, K., Wettlaufer, A., Farrell-Low, A., Giesbrecht, N., Stockwell, T., Vishnevsky, N., Priore, B., Ma, J., Asbridge, M., Gagnon, M., Hynes, G., Shelley, J., Sherk, A., Shield, K., Solomon, R., Thomas, G., Thompson, K., & Naimi, T. (2023). Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation (CAPE) 3.0: Methodology and Evidence (Federal and Provincial/Territorial). Victoria, BC: Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research, University of Victoria.

Acknowledgments: Thank you to all federal, provincial and territorial stakeholders who provided valuable feedback for this project as well as assisting with data collection and validation activities. Thanks also to our three external expert reviewers, all the extended members of the project team, and our CAPE Community of Practice.

Funding: This project was funded primarily by Health Canada's Substance Use and Addictions Program. Additional funds were provided by the Public Health Agency of Canada and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of Health Canada or the other organizations acknowledged.



Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation (CAPE) 3.0: Methodology and Evidence (Federal and Provincial/Territorial)

Contents	
Overall Study Design	2
Purpose	2
Scope	2
Research team	3
Methods	3
Alcohol Policy Domains	3
Alcohol Policy Domain Weighting	4
Alcohol Policy Indicators, Sub-Indicators and Scoring Rubrics	6
External Review	7
Data Collection and Validation	7
Data Scoring and Analysis	8
Evidence Summary for Policy Domains	10
Pricing and Taxation	10
Physical Availability	10
Control System	11
Impaired Driving Countermeasures	12
Marketing and Advertising Controls	13
Minimum Legal Age	14
Health and Safety Messaging	15
Liquor Law Enforcement	16
Screening and Treatment Interventions	16
Alcohol Strategy	17
Monitoring and Reporting	
References	19



Overall Study Design

This review forms the third iteration of the Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation (CAPE), which was previously completed in 2019 for the federal government and all provincial/territorial jurisdictions and in 2013 for the 10 provinces [1-3]. The policy domains assessed as part of CAPE form part of a comprehensive and synergistic approach to preventing and reducing different types of alcohol harms. The policies examined fall under either federal or provincial/territorial control. The current CAPE review includes an updated and revised protocol, new policy indicators and data, and a companion national alcohol policy community of practice.

The CAPE project provides a point in time snapshot of alcohol policies in place at the time of data collection for each assessment. As domains and policy indicators are updated to reflect the latest alcohol policy research and evidence for each CAPE iteration, results are not directly comparable between reviews. However, results do reflect the overall direction of government approaches to alcohol policy and addressing alcohol harm in Canada based on current evidence. Findings from the previous CAPE assessments are available both on the <u>CAPE website</u> and in a range of peer reviewed academic publications [4-9]

Purpose

The CAPE project was inspired by the approach originally developed by MADD Canada to assess the progress of policies to reduce impaired driving. The MADD Canada legislative review series documented and made public information about the implementation of effective impaired driving policies in each province and territory, producing detailed report cards, to support governments seeking to reduce alcohol-related death and injury on Canadian roads [10]. Since 2000, numerous MADD Canada recommended regulatory and legislative changes have been implemented in Canadian jurisdictions.

Taking a similar approach, CAPE seeks to influence change by providing policymakers, decision-makers and knowledge users with detailed assessments of the extent to which effective alcohol policies and interventions are in place in their respective jurisdictions. The project also comprises a national alcohol policy community of practice that engages individuals from a variety of government and nongovernment sectors in a range of activities to increase awareness and knowledge of emerging alcoholrelated research and policies.

Scope

Each Canadian jurisdiction has unique regulatory environments, for example, different types of alcohol control systems and varying degrees of control over alcohol distribution and sale. At the provincial/territorial level, there is also considerable variation in levels of per capita alcohol consumption and alcohol harms, which reflects diverse economic, social, and demographic characteristics as well as implementation of different alcohol policies. The territories further represent variation in cultural and geographical landscapes and are unique in terms of population size and dispersion, which can result in reduced infrastructure capacity. To the extent possible, we have applied the same protocol to policy implementation in these three jurisdictions, recognizing that while the evidence-based policy principles still apply, in practice they may need to be tailored to a given context. It is also important to note that while governments at the local or municipal level may have control over some aspects of alcohol policy, it is beyond the scope of this project to review alcohol policies across several thousand Canadian municipalities.



Research team

The CAPE research team consists of co-investigators, research coordinators, research assistants and legal consultants, including law students. The co-investigative team includes researchers from public health organizations and academic institutions from across Canada with expertise on a wide range alcohol policies and public health interventions.

Methods

Alcohol Policy Domains

The CAPE project assesses the implementation of alcohol policy in Canada according to a set of evidence-based alcohol policy domains: 10 domains at the Federal level and 11 domains at the provincial and territorial level (see Table 1). Domains are comprised of policies for which the respective levels of government are directly responsible or can influence indirectly.

The alcohol policy domains included in CAPE were selected based upon established and emerging published evidence of their effectiveness across a range of different population groups. The evidence included systematic and thematic literature reviews as well as peer reviewed policy analysis frameworks and policy recommendations from the WHO (in particular their Global Strategy to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol to which Canada is a signatory) [11-15]. Several scientific publications that included methodological approaches to scoring of alcohol policies informed the development of the assessment criteria specific to this project, including Babor, Caetano [16], Anderson, Chisholm [17], Karlsson and Österberg [18], Brand, Saisana [19], Naimi, Blanchette [20] as well as the policy dimensions used by MADD Canada [10].

The CAPE policy domains also align with other strategic documents such as the World Health Organization's SAFER interventions [14], global strategy and action plan on alcohol [13, 15], the Canadian Public Health Association's position paper on alcohol [21], and the Pan American Health Organization's assessment of 33 member states of the Americas on the ten action areas of the WHO global alcohol strategy [22].

Consultation with policy stakeholders across the provinces and territories representing a variety of sectors related to public health, mental health and addictions, alcohol retail and regulation, finance, and treasury, and driving safety informed domains. In 2022, the establishment of a national community of practice enhanced engagement with an even broader range of government and non-government stakeholders to elicit further input and feedback through surveys, interviews, and focus groups.

Alcohol Policy Domains
Pricing and Taxation
Physical Availability
Control System
Impaired Driving Countermeasures

Table	1:	CAPE	3.0	Alcohol	Policy	Domains
					,	



Marketing and Advertising Controls
Minimum Legal Age
Health and Safety Messaging
Liquor Law Enforcement (not assessed at federal level)
Screening and Treatment Interventions
Alcohol Strategy
Monitoring and Reporting

Alcohol Policy Domain Weighting

The CAPE policy domains form part of a comprehensive and synergistic approach to preventing and reducing alcohol harms. While each of these policy domains play an important role, they vary in their degree of effectiveness and scope. To account for this, the project team used a systematic approach to apply weightings to each of the domains by rating them on a five-point scale according to these two dimensions. This weighting process resulted in a ranked order of policy domains from one (i.e. highest overall impact) through 10 (federal) or 11 (provincial/territorial).

Ratings of *effectiveness* (out of 5) were made based on a policy domain's capacity to reduce alcohol harms either by direct or indirect (i.e. by facilitating other alcohol policies) mechanisms when fully implemented. Ratings considered the breadth and strength of published evidence specific to alcohol or other health related policy topics (e.g., tobacco, sugary drinks). There was special emphasis on systematic reviews and meta-analyses, and also theory and principles established in other areas of prevention and public health policy.

Ratings of *scope* (out of 5) were based on estimates of (a) the *proportion of the population* affected by a particular policy domain, and (b) the *proportion of alcohol harms* the policy domain can affect within the population it reaches, when fully implemented.

The co-investigative team participated in a series of Delphi policy weighting exercises in order to arrive at the final policy domain weights. Because policy domains were comprised of differing policies that may vary in terms of impact at the federal vs. provincial/territorial levels, domain weighting was performed separately for the two levels. Independent ratings were submitted anonymously using an online platform (SurveyMonkey) in two rounds of voting for federal weightings and two rounds of voting for provincial/territorial weightings. A subsequent meeting held after each voting round facilitated discussion and consensus on any discrepancies in the ratings. The final weightings for each of federal and provincial/territorial domains were calculated by multiplying the average effectiveness and scope ratings from the second round of votes to determine the total impact weight for the respective policy domains (see Table 2 and Table 3). For a description of how these weightings were applied during scoring, see <u>Data Scoring</u>.



Table 2: CAPE 3.0 Federal Policy Domain Weighting

Policy Domain	Mean Effectiveness [out of 5]	Mean Scope [out of 5]	Total Impact Weight ¹ [out of 25] (%) ²	
1. Pricing and Taxation	4.54	4.58	20.77 (21.90%)	
2. Marketing and Advertising Controls	3.38	4.04	13.67 (14.41%)	
3. Impaired Driving Countermeasures	3.27	2.88	9.43 (9.94%)	
4. Health and Safety Messaging	2.58	3.54	9.12 (9.61%)	
5. Physical Availability	2.81	3.08	8.64 (9.11%)	
6. Control System	2.73	3.12	8.51 (8.97%)	
7. Minimum Legal Age	3.19	2.31	7.37 (7.77%)	
8. Alcohol Strategy	2.08	3.00	6.23 (6.57%)	
9. Screening and Treatment Interventions	2.54	2.35	5.96 (6.28%)	
10. Monitoring and Reporting	1.92	2.69	5.18 (5.46%)	
	Overall total impact weight			

Table 3: CAPE 3.0 Provincial/Territorial Policy Domain Weighting

Policy Domain	Mean Effectiveness [out of 5]	Mean Scope [out of 5]	Total Impact Weight ¹ [out of 25] (%) ²	
1. Pricing and Taxation	4.88	4.85	23.67 (19.33%)	
2. Physical Availability	4.35	4.73	20.56 (16.79%)	
3. Control System	3.08	3.65	11.24 (9.18%)	
4. Impaired Driving Countermeasures	3.85	2.88	11.09 (9.06%)	
5. Marketing and Advertising Controls	3.00	3.65	10.96 (8.95%)	
6. Minimum Legal Age	3.42	2.69	9.22 (7.53%)	
7. Health and Safety Messaging	2.65	3.35	8.88 (7.25%)	
8. Liquor Law Enforcement	2.65	3.00	7.96 (6.50%)	
9. Screening and Treatment Interventions	2.73	2.54	6.93 (5.66%)	
10. Alcohol Strategy	2.23	3.00	6.69 (5.47%)	
11. Monitoring and Reporting	2.15	2.42	5.22 (4.26%)	
	Overall to	122.43 (100%)		

¹ Total impact weight = Effectiveness × Scope (note: totals may not add up in summary tables as numbers are rounded to two decimals only).

² Total impact weight (%) = (total impact weight ÷ sum of all total impact weights)



Note: Changes in policy domain ranking between CAPE 2.0 (2019) & CAPE 3.0 (2022)

In some cases, the final weightings shifted the rank order of domains from CAPE 2.0. This change reflects a number of factors including updated research evidence, a broader range of policies captured under each domain, methodological adjustments such as more precise (0.5) increments in the 5-point rating scale, and a revised definition of effectiveness that was broadened to include both direct mechanisms and indirect facilitation of policy implementation. It should also be noted that the domain rankings in CAPE 2.0 were presented as two different rankings (i.e., direct and indirect) whereas these have been combined and a single rank order of domains is presented for CAPE 3.0.

Alcohol Policy Indicators, Sub-Indicators and Scoring Rubrics

Domains were composed of a series of evidence-based alcohol policy indicators and sub-indicators. These indicators were considered the 'best practice' and were used to assess implementation of each domain. For example, the provincial/territorial Pricing and Taxation domain was composed of policy indicators such as minimum pricing per standard drink for alcohol sold from off-premise and on-premise outlets, general pricing, alcohol sales tax, and markups. Within each of those indicators were subindicators that captured the key components of that policy (e.g., whether minimum prices were implemented for all beverage types, the level of the minimum price, and whether it was automatically indexed and based on alcohol content). In some instances, practice indicators were used to capture outcomes from the implementation of a particular policy (e.g. actual density of retail outlets in a jurisdiction). A few of the domains incorporated bonus points that were awarded for policy synergies or penalty points that were deducted for loopholes or exceptions that undermined policy.

Building upon the existing scoring rubrics developed for previous CAPE iterations, alcohol policy indicators and their respective sub-indicators were refined or added, defined and organized across each of the policy domains by the project team in consultation with the co-investigators. The selection and definition of indicators and sub-indicators in the scoring rubric was an iterative process. For cases when new indicators were added, their feasibility was tested during data collection and in some instances were removed if the policy was found to be redundant in relation to other indicators or was not possible to assess in the current policy context. Two distinct scoring rubrics, one for the Federal assessment and one for the provincial/territorial assessment, reflected the different policies that the respective levels of government were directly responsible for or could indirectly influence. The scoring rubrics comprised a description of the indicators and sub-indicators within each domain, the number of points that could be awarded for the indicators and sub-indicators and specifications for how points were to be assigned (i.e. scoring instructions).

Each policy domain was assigned a maximum of ten points; these points were later weighted on a domain-specific basis per the methods noted above. The indicator and sub-indicator point values were determined and allocated through multiple project team meetings and expert consultations taking into account principles of effectiveness and scope for the policy indicators and sub-indicators within each domain. For example, as the majority of alcohol is purchased at off-premise retail outlets (e.g. retail liquor stores) compared to on-premise establishments (e.g., restaurants, bars), indicators and sub-indicators and sub-indicators related to off-premise outlet density were allocated a higher proportion of the 10 points. In



cases where newly added indicators were tested and subsequently removed during data collection, provisional point values that had been allocated were reassigned.

External Review

Three international alcohol policy experts were engaged to review the chosen federal and provincial/territorial policy domains, the weightings assigned to each of the domains, and the individual indicators and point values included in the two scoring rubrics. The experts who completed the review were William Kerr, Senior Scientist, Alcohol Research Group, Public Health Institute, United States; Tanya Chikritzhs, Professor and Program Leader, Alcohol Policy and Strategies, National Drug Research Institute, Australia; and Robyn Burton, Senior Alcohol Research Officer, Public Health England, UK.

The reviewers each independently provided their expert opinion on the selected alcohol policy domains and respective indicators and sub-indicators in terms of their relevance, comprehensiveness, relative weighting, and strength of supporting evidence. This feedback was used to refine the scoring rubrics, indicators and domain weightings. See Federal Scoring Rubric and Provincial/Territorial Scoring Rubric.

Data Collection and Validation

Detailed data collection templates were developed for the federal and provincial/territorial rubrics, respectively. Online document and website searches were conducted to capture all publicly available policy information during the data collection period of June 1, 2022 to December 1, 2022. Only policies that had been implemented by the end of the data collection period were included in this assessment. Data were collected for the most recent period available; in most cases this period was the 2022 calendar year, but in some cases was the 2021/2022 fiscal year (e.g. data from annual reports).

Official legislative and regulatory documents were used to collect the relevant data whenever possible. For example, liquor control and licensing acts and corresponding regulations at the provincial and territorial level and the Criminal Code or Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission (CRTC) at the federal level. Other public sources of information such as provincial and territorial alcohol strategies; liquor regulator annual reports, government documents designed for public and media audiences; federal Acts and Bills; and data from Statistics Canada were also used. Where data were not readily accessible, information was sought directly by contacting the relevant government agencies/ministries (e.g., government alcohol retailers and regulators, departments of health etc.).

Key contacts within the federal government and each provincial/territorial jurisdiction were asked to provide data not available in the public domain and subsequently perform data validation by reviewing the accuracy and completeness of the data files. In each case, data validators reviewed only the data relevant to their jurisdiction or departmental mandate. The data files provided allowed data validators to make corrections and add additional data sources or comments and clarification as needed. Further follow-up via email and/or teleconference was pursued when clarification or further information was required. Any revisions or updates relevant to data captured within the data collection period subsequently provided by the data validators were incorporated into the final data analysis. Policy data for all federal and provincial/territorial jurisdictions were formally validated with the exception of a small number of health indicators in Nunavut where staffing shortages precluded formal participation and indicators therefore were validated informally (i.e. validated by stakeholders other than those working directly for government).



Impaired driving legislation is particularly nuanced, especially for those without a legal background. In the previous CAPE reviews, Impaired Driving Countermeasures data were drawn from the MADD Canada legislative reviews. As MADD Canada has not completed a subsequent legislative review since the release of CAPE 2.0, data for the current assessment were collected by law students on the project team with supervision from Professor Robert Solomon and Dr. Jacob Shelley at Western University.

Data Scoring and Analysis

Data scoring for each provincial/territorial domain was completed independently by two coinvestigators and then reviewed by the research coordinators. Federal data were scored independently by two research coordinators and then reviewed by co-investigators. Scorers were provided the complete, validated data file for each policy domain assigned to them and instructed to score in accordance with the scoring rubric. Any discrepancies in scoring were brought to the attention of the two scorers to be discussed and resolved; if not resolved, these were adjudicated by the research coordinators for final scoring determination, with input from co-investigators as required.

In instances where no data were available, an assumption was made that no policy was in place and a conservative score of zero was applied accordingly. There was only one instance in the provincial and territorial assessment where a lack of policy information resulted in a score of zero and that was for missing consumer price index data, which are not collected by Statistics Canada in one jurisdiction; the score for that jurisdiction was pro-rated to account for the missing data.

Scores by policy domain

Scores out of 10 points were calculated for each federal and provincial/territorial policy domain by summing the individual indicator and sub-indicator scores, including any bonus or penalty points. Provinces and territories achieving top scores within each domain were highlighted to provide examples of best existing policies that other jurisdictions could look to for guidance.

Scores by jurisdiction

An overall alcohol policy score for each federal and provincial/territorial jurisdiction was calculated by applying the domain weightings listed in Table 2 and Table 3 to each of the domain scores for that individual jurisdiction.

Best existing policies score (provincial/territorial)

The CAPE scores by policy domain and jurisdiction reflect the performance of each jurisdiction according to the best practice for alcohol policy as captured in the CAPE scoring rubric. That is, ideal policy implementation scenarios. Analysis was also conducted to determine what score **could** be achieved by any jurisdiction if they were to implement all the best or near best practice policies that are currently in place in Canada. This was done by identifying the instances in which either **full marks** or **highest marks** were achieved by any jurisdiction across all the individual sub-indicators, then summing them, resulting in an overall best existing policies score at the Canadian provincial/territorial level (e.g. best existing policies score of 80%).

Scores by jurisdiction measured against best existing policies score (provincial/territorial)

Analysis was also conducted to measure the overall alcohol policy performance of each province and territory relative to the best existing policies currently in place across all the provinces and territories. This was done by measuring the individual province/territory score in relation to the best **existing**



policies score described above rather than the best practice policies (jurisdiction score ÷ best existing policy score).

To invoke a 'report card' design, letter grades were applied to score ranges (see Table 4).

Table 4: CAPE letter grades by score ranges

A+	90-100%	B+	77-79%	C+	67-69%	D+	57-59%	F	0-49%
А	85-89%	В	73-76%	С	63-66%	D	53-56%		
A-	80-84%	B-	70-72%	C-	60-62%	D-	50-52%		

Recommendations

Recommendations for policy change were formulated to provide tailored information and specific steps that each jurisdiction could take to strengthen their alcohol policies and improve their overall CAPE score. The recommendations are included in the individual provincial and territorial results summaries.



Evidence Summary for Policy Domains

Pricing and Taxation

Based on hundreds of studies from around the world, it is clear that increasing the price of alcohol is a highly effective strategy for reducing consumption and alcohol health and social harms [<u>11-13</u>, <u>16</u>, <u>18</u>, <u>19</u>, <u>21-23</u>]. Like many other consumer products, when alcohol prices rise, sales decrease, if other factors such as income remain constant. This is known as price elasticity of demand. A recent major international study found that, on average, a 1% increase in overall alcohol prices was associated with a 0.5% reduction in alcohol use and resulted in increases in both industry profits and government revenues [<u>24</u>]. Taxation is a cost-effective method to raise prices and thereby reduce consumption and harm, especially if tax rates are based on the amount of pure alcohol in a given beverage (i.e. a minimum unit price) and keep pace with inflation via indexation [<u>24</u>].

At the federal level, there is significant evidence that excise taxes (i.e. alcohol duty) can play a key role in reducing consumption and subsequent alcohol harms [25]. In Canada, rates of total sales tax and excise taxation generally fall between 20% and 30% of the final retail price, despite alcohol industry claims of higher rates [26]. In fact, the rate of excise taxation on alcoholic beverages in Canada is lower than many countries in the Americas, especially those in Latin America [27]. It is essential that excise taxation increases proportionally with inflation. For example, when the UK alcohol duty escalator was frozen in 2012, both alcohol consumption as well as related deaths, crime and ill-health increased significantly, especially for those with low incomes [28].

Minimum unit pricing (MUP) establishes a floor price below which a defined amount of ethanol (standard drink) cannot be sold. MUP results in a single minimum price across beverage types, as ethanol is treated the same regardless of beverage type (e.g., beer, wine, spirits, etc). There is substantial and growing evidence from Scotland [29-31], Wales [29], Canada [32-35], and Australia [36] that the introduction of a MUP reduces total alcohol use across the population and, in particular, reduces the consumption of cheap alcohol favoured by at-risk and dependent alcohol users while improving health and social outcomes [33-35, 37-40]. There is some evidence that minimum prices generally, and MUP in particular, reduce consumption and harm most effectively for heavier drinkers and those with low incomes [35, 41]. Further, despite concerns that MUP would negatively affect low-income populations with high prevalence of addiction, especially those with unstable housing, qualitative research has demonstrated minimal to no negative impact on these populations [42].

In addition to MUP, mark-ups of alcoholic beverages, especially when in proportion to the retail price, have the potential to drive substantial public health benefits while maintaining government revenue, creating mutual gains [43].

Physical Availability

Limiting the physical availability of alcohol is a key population-level intervention that can reduce consumption and prevent alcohol harms. The physical availability of alcohol primarily refers to the number of off-premise retail outlets (i.e. liquor stores) and on-premise licensed establishments (e.g., restaurants, bars) in a certain geographical area, the hours and days when these outlets and



establishments are open, restrictions on where alcohol outlets can be located, and which types of businesses are permitted to sell alcohol.

The density of outlets in a jurisdiction is associated with alcohol consumption levels in the local population [44-46]. A substantial increase in the number of alcohol outlets results in increases in consumption and associated harms [16, 37, 44, 47-50]. The impact of outlet density on high-risk drinking among younger populations is particularly pronounced [51, 52], especially when outlets are in close proximity to schools [53, 54]. There is an established body of research demonstrating the relationship between the density of both on-premise establishments and off-premise outlets and alcohol harms [11, 16]. These harms, which include violence and injuries, alcohol-related crashes, instances of suicide and public disturbances [51, 55, 56], are especially prevalent in neighbourhoods with high outlet density [57, 58].

A systematic review concluded that extending hours of sale for on-premise outlets was followed by increases in assaults, injuries, or drink-driving offenses while restricting trading hours at on- and offpremises outlets was associated with reductions in assaults and hospitalizations [59]. International evidence also indicates that longer hours of sale, particularly late at night, increase the amount of alcohol consumed and the rates of alcohol harms [16, 60-65]. The literature indicates that acute harms were most likely to increase with increases in hours of sales [11, 66, 67]; conversely, reducing hours of sale is associated with a reduction of heavy drinking and acute harms [68-72].

The COVID-19 pandemic provided a unique opportunity to examine the effects of physical availability of alcohol. While some regions declared alcohol to be an essential good, expanding availability through services such as home delivery, others enacted total bans on alcohol [73]. An international review of English-speaking countries found that since the beginning of the pandemic, nearly 70% of jurisdictions had temporarily or permanently relaxed regulations for the home delivery of alcohol [74]. Both online and on-demand (i.e. within 2 hours of the time of purchase) home alcohol delivery have been associated with increased risky or heavy drinking and related harms [75-77]. Similarly, increased availability of take-away alcohol, which also increased during the pandemic, has been associated with increased consumption and vice versa [59]. In contrast, South Africa, which instituted a total alcohol sales ban, found significant decreases in patient volume related to assault, accident, and other injuries, allowing health services to focus on COVID-19 efforts [78].

Federally, controls on duty-free imports of alcohol are an essential component of limiting the physical availability of alcohol. In Finland, when the government removed limits on tax-free imports of alcoholic beverages from other countries in the European Union, alcohol consumption and related harms increased significantly as Finnish travelers returning home could bring with them nearly any amount of alcohol without any additional cost [79, 80].

Control System

Alcohol control systems can range from government monopolies, which are a system of government control over the wholesale, retail sale or distribution of alcohol, to completely privatized retail sales of alcohol. The evidence indicates that privatization and deregulation lead to a greater liquor outlet



density, and this promotes competition that involves alcohol sales during longer hours, with lower pricing, and with less rigorous interventions to prevent sales to minors or intoxicated patrons [16, 81, 82]. In Canadian jurisdictions where government retail monopolies have been dismantled and partial or full privatization has been introduced, increases in alcohol consumption and harms have been observed [6, 47, 49, 83-85]. In British Columbia, a rising proportion of liquor stores under private ownership was associated with overall increase in per capita alcohol consumption [49], and, more concerning, with increased alcohol-attributable deaths [47] and hospital admissions [50].

Conversely, a re-monopolization of retail sales by government in Sweden was associated with a decrease in alcohol harms including suicides, falls, and motor vehicle collisions [86]. It is important to note that a key component of the re-monopolization was that the monopoly reported to a public health ministry, rather than to a finance or treasury department as in the majority in Canadian provinces and territories, thus squarely focusing the mandate on protecting public health and safety rather than generating revenues from alcohol sales [87]. Research from Sweden has estimated the potential health and safety consequences of disbanding the government retail monopoly [87, 88]. In one scenario, it was estimated that privatization would result in 41% more alcohol-caused deaths, 22% more alcohol-caused hospital stays and 34% more drink-driving events. In a higher-density second scenario, alcohol would be responsible for an estimated 66% increase in the number of deaths and a 33% increase in the number of hospital stays due to drinking [87].

Government alcohol monopolies can serve as an ideal vehicle for counter advertising in contrast to pervasive pro-alcohol messaging and cultural norms. For example, government-run retail outlets can place an increased emphasis on health and safety relative to product promotion. Further, they provide a means of restricting where alcohol can be sold, so that cannot be purchased alongside other goods and services such as at grocery stores, hair salons or movie theatres. In Ontario, deregulation allowing alcohol into grocery stores was associated with a greater proportion of alcohol-attributable emergency department visits [45].

Beyond restrictions on where alcohol is sold, it is important for alcohol-related policy decisions to have a public health focus. Engagement of public health officials in alcohol policy, for example, has been shown to increase use of health evidence in policy development [89]. Governments should also have public reporting of industry lobbying activities to ensure transparency of these activities and to mitigate their effects on alcohol-related public health policy [90]. At the federal level, having a comprehensive public-health focused Alcohol Act, as already exists for both cannabis and tobacco, is critical as it provides the overarching legislative framework necessary to guide stronger alcohol policies at the provincial and territorial level and underpins the national response to alcohol harms [91].

Impaired Driving Countermeasures

Although alcohol-related crashes remain a leading cause of alcohol-related death and injuries in Canada, evidence-based policies can substantially reduce these harms. Proven countermeasures include comprehensive graduated licensing programs with a lengthy period of supervised driving and a ban on being positive for alcohol and drugs while driving (i.e. zero tolerance) for drivers under 22 years of age and drivers with less than 5 years of driving experience [92-95].



Similarly, administrative license suspension and vehicle impoundment programs for drivers with bloodalcohol concentrations (BACs) at or above 0.05% have proven to be effective [96-99]. Mandatory alcohol interlock programs for all federal impaired driving offenders (i.e. drivers charged with a federal criminal code violation such as a BAC of 0.08% or higher) which include reduced provincial license suspensions to encourage participation have been shown to substantially reduce drivers' reoffending [100-103]. Likewise, laws prohibiting open containers in vehicles have been associated with decreased alcoholinvolved fatal crashes [104-106]. Penalties for polysubstance (e.g. alcohol use in addition to another substance) detection while driving are also important, as research has established that when alcohol is used in combination with other drugs, such as cannabis, there is synergistically negative effect on driving performance, such as increased unsafe driving actions, compared to either substance alone [107, 108].

At the federal level, there are other important related policies that should be considered. First, there is strong evidence that lowering the driver BAC limit to 0.05% from 0.08% would save lives [109, 110]. In addition, legislation allowing for random alcohol breath testing has demonstrated effectiveness in preventing alcohol-related crashes and traffic fatalities [111-113]. In addition to breath testing, legislation allowing evidentiary blood samples is a key component to impaired driving enforcement, as BAC is the single most important component in determining liability in a suspected alcohol-impaired driving case [114]. Finally, tracking of alcohol impaired driving deaths and injuries is essential to not only monitor the extent of the issue, but also to evaluate the effectiveness of new legislation and/or safety programs [115]. See glossary for definition of terms used in this section.

Marketing and Advertising Controls

A ban or comprehensive restrictions on alcohol marketing is one of the most effective, and costeffective policies for reducing the harms caused by alcohol [116]. Restrictions on alcohol marketing can include the volume of advertisements, advertisement content, price-based promotions [117], and placement of advertisements [118]. The total ban on traditional advertising implemented in Norway in 1975 was found to reduce alcohol consumption over a 25-year period, although more recent forms of digital marketing made it more difficult to enforce the restrictions [119].

The effectiveness of marketing policies is contingent on them applying to all advertisers and having an independent regulatory body with the authority to monitor and enforce these restrictions, especially given that voluntary self-regulation by the alcohol industry has been shown to be highly ineffective [120, 121]. Further, the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) recommends implementing, independent from the alcohol industry, a pre-screening system to ensure that alcohol marketing adheres to regulations, an accessible a complaint system to ensure complaints about alcohol marketing are effectively addressed, and that there are commensurate and escalating penalties depending on the severity and frequency of regulatory violations [22].

The Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission (CRTC) sets the guidelines on content and placement of alcohol marketing allowed on television and radio at the federal level in Canada. However, the CRTC regulations have not been updated since 1996 and do not include regulations that govern the content of digital media. This is an especially critical omission as the alcohol industry increasingly relies on new digital forms of advertising such as social media platforms to reach alcohol consumers [122, 123]. Research evidence suggests that alcohol marketing has a powerful effect



on youth and that they are disproportionally exposed and unduly influenced by digital forms of advertising [124, 125]. While age affirmation systems are generally ineffective [126], larger scale bans on digital marketing show promising evidence of effectiveness [127, 128]. Efforts to regulate the access and content of digital marketing are a public health priority.

Minimum Legal Age

There is well-established evidence that minimum legal age laws (MLA) offer health and safety benefits at the population level, as they act to delay the onset of problem alcohol use, and may also produce positive impacts across the life course [129-133]. In addition to making it more difficult for young people to obtain alcohol, MLA laws also communicate a message about community norms, beliefs, and behaviours around alcohol, which helps to shape consumption patterns. When young people gain legal access to alcohol they incur increased rates of a range of negative alcohol-related health and social outcomes. Implementing a legal age of 21 for sale, purchase and consumption of alcohol has been shown to be most effective in reducing related problems among younger drinkers [134, 135].

The negative effects of earlier access to alcohol are typically more prevalent in young males and those of lower socioeconomic status [136-138]. In Sweden, graduated access to alcohol with age restrictions on purchase of certain strengths of alcohol and in certain venues has been explored and mirror elements of graduated licensing programs for new drivers [133]. This stepped approach to gaining legal access to alcohol may assist young adults who choose to drink in managing this new responsibility and lessen the alcohol-related health impacts they experience [133]. However, MLA laws must be appropriately calibrated to each jurisdiction to minimize the impact of any unintended consequence (spillover effects, substitution, border jumping) [139].

MLA laws effectiveness can be strengthened with proof-of-age laws that require anyone purchasing alcohol to present government-issued identification. While such laws are not currently in place in any Canadian jurisdiction, many jurisdictions (as well as the U.S.) have such legislation in place for tobacco [140, 141]. Campaigns making it clear that anyone under a certain age can be expected to show ID have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing underage alcohol consumption and related hospital admissions [142].

Proof-of-age laws are also important when alcohol is purchased remotely, such as through online sales. It is estimated that 45% of attempts by underage persons to purchase alcohol online are successful [143], and roughly 10% of 12th graders reported making alcohol home delivery purchases in the past year [144]. Among underage persons, making home delivery purchases was associated with binge drinking and increased frequency of consumption [144]. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been a recent expansion of online sales and home delivery of alcohol, and with this, concerns for increased accessibility of alcohol to underage persons. Although an international review of policies found most jurisdictions required proof of age at the time of delivery, only 10% required proof of age at the time of purchase [74]. It is thus important that age verification occurs at the point of both purchase and delivery.



Health and Safety Messaging

Health and safety messaging may include alcohol beverage labelling, onsite signage at off-premise retail outlets and on-premise establishments as well as jurisdiction-wide health and safety campaigns. Such messaging provides critical information to allow consumers to make informed choices about alcohol consumption. Until recently, there was a relative dearth of real-world alcohol beverage labelling or alcohol awareness campaign implementations, with the exception of some specific alcohol-caused harms such as drinking and driving [145]. The implementation of beverage labels in some US states in the 1980s, which warned of the risks for some serious health conditions and for pregnant mothers were found to increase conversations about these alcohol-caused risks [146]. Further arguments favouring health and safety messaging have emphasized that a) alcohol consumers have a right to know about potential harms and b) manufacturers and retailers have legal duties to warn of the potential harms of their product [147]. Alcohol beverage labelling has been a topic of particular public interest in recent times as a tool for raising awareness of alcohol's contribution to cancer and chronic disease [148]; a link not well-known by Canadians [149-151].

In 2017-18, a real-world alcohol warning label experiment was conducted in the Canadian territories (study site: Whitehorse, YT, control site: Yellowknife, NT). During an eight-month intervention period, one of three alcohol beverage warning labels were affixed to 98% of alcoholic products available for sale: (i) a cancer warning, (ii) a standard drink label, and (iii) a national drinking guidelines label [147]. The study comprehensively measured changes in alcohol sales, knowledge of alcohol-caused harms and attitudes. Per person retail sales of all alcoholic beverages were estimated to have decreased by 6.3% during the labelling period in the study site compared with control sites without new labels. Furthermore, sales of the great majority (98%) of products that were labelled decreased by 6.6% while sales of the small number of unlabelled products increased by 6.9% [152]. Unprompted recall of national drinking guidelines increased substantially in the study site [153]. The cancer warnings were removed prematurely due to industry-led interference in the study [154]; however, unprompted recall of the alcohol-cancer link increased significantly among liquor store patrons interviewed shortly after the cancer warnings were removed [148].

A 2019 study found that Canadian alcohol consumers received an average of 11.2% of their necessary daily calories from alcoholic beverages, yet no jurisdiction currently mandates caloric or nutritional labelling on alcoholic beverages [155]. A recent review regarding alcohol warning labels indicated respondent support for labelling activities [145]. This review and others including Hobin, Weerasinghe [148], Dimova and Mitchell [156], and [157] recommend key components of a mandated and enhanced alcohol warning label.

Health and safety messaging can also be disseminated through information such as signage, audio announcements or other onsite messaging provided at both on- and off-premise locations. Alcohol and pregnancy warning signage, such as state-mandated signage on alcohol and pregnancy risks at the point of sale, have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing prenatal alcohol consumption and subsequent birth-related negative outcomes [158]. There is also evidence that mandatory signage providing information on alcohol and cancer risk posted at businesses in California was associated with increased awareness of this health risk [159].



Mass media educational campaigns on the topic of alcohol and health also have demonstrated effectiveness. Such campaigns can promote awareness of and intentions to meet lower-risk drinking guidelines [160, 161], increase awareness of alcohol and cancer [162-164], reduce intentions to drink alcohol during pregnancy [165], and change knowledge, beliefs and attitudes about alcohol consumption [166]. Alcohol harm reduction advertisements appear to be particularly motivating when they discuss long-term harms, have a target audience of the general population of alcohol consumers, and pair messages with drinking guidelines [167]. Ideally, such campaigns are led by government health agencies, as they are perceived as one of the most trusted sources of health information, second only to physicians, and do not hold the vested interests of the alcohol industry or the corporate social responsibility organizations that the industry funds [168].

Liquor Law Enforcement

There is evidence that enforcing the laws governing the service of alcohol and the management of licensed premises and issuing commensurate penalties for violations can contribute to reducing alcohol-related harm [24]. However, there are important caveats, and the level of effectiveness will be determined by local context and culture.

Law enforcement has been shown to be an important component of effective community-based responses to alcohol-related crime and violence [169], but full effectiveness requires considerable stakeholder engagement, effective leadership, sustained funding, and community support [24]. Targeted approaches based on data that identifies high-risk licensed premises have shown some effectiveness (e.g. collecting information from impaired driving suspects about where they purchased their last drink) [170, 171]. In most cities, a small proportion of late-night venues (e.g. 10 to 20%) tend to be linked to most of the drink-driving and violent offences [172].

Inspection programs (e.g., "mystery shoppers", police walk-throughs) have shown some evidence of effectiveness [24]. Mystery shopper programs use underage or apparently underage patrons and individuals who are trained to show visible signs of intoxication to assess whether licensed establishments are complying with liquor laws (e.g., conducting proper ID checks and refusing service to underage and intoxicated patrons) [173-176].

Alcohol sale and service training programs for all staff and volunteers in off-premise outlets, on-premise establishments and at special events are another key component to liquor law enforcement. There is evidence to support their effectiveness in preventing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASDs) [177], single-vehicle nighttime traffic crashes (which are often alcohol-involved) [178], patron aggression [179] and patron consumption [180], while also promoting responsible serving [181]. However, given low compliance, mandated trainings are more likely to be effective than voluntary ones [182, 183]. Moreover, given that effects can be mitigated with time, recertification should be required on a regular (e.g. annually [184]) basis.

Screening and Treatment Interventions

Since the previous CAPE report (2019), this policy domain has been expanded from screening, brief intervention and referral (SBIR) to also include population-level alcohol guidelines, and treatment and



harm reduction programs. At the population level, evidence-based and government-endorsed information and guidance on alcohol and health can provide an important upstream framework that facilitates a range of prevention, education, and health promotion initiatives in both clinical and nonclinical settings. For example, alcohol guidance can be used to inform screening tools and clinical guidelines and as a means of normalizing non-drinking behaviours. Alcohol guidance or low risk drinking guidelines have been shown to increase a drinker's intentions to reduce their alcohol use if paired with effective alcohol harm reduction campaigns such as television advertisements [160].

For alcohol SBIR, the cumulative evidence from several hundred empirical studies indicates that the use of SBIR in primary, secondary and emergency health care settings and the use online self-guided SBIR resources are effective methods for reducing alcohol consumption, particularly among those with early stage or less severe alcohol dependence [185-188]. These initiatives are cost-effective measures to prevent and reduce alcohol-related harms. Brief interventions can be implemented in clinical settings (including acute care settings) and a variety of non-clinical settings to reach priority populations (e.g., shelters, correctional institutions, community-based organizations) or be taken up remotely to expand their reach (e.g. electronic tools) [189]. The evidence is less clear on the effectiveness of SBIR for adolescents [11, 185-187, 190].

Inpatient and outpatient treatment services, including withdrawal management have been shown to be effective in reducing the harms associated with alcohol use/withdrawal and reduce alcohol consumption [191, 192]. At the federal level, such treatment services are especially important for populations disproportionately affected by alcohol use, such as military and corrections populations [193, 194]. Managed alcohol programs (MAPs) may offer a potentially effective targeted intervention for people with severe alcohol use disorders who are also experiencing homelessness; however, the overall effectiveness and potential risks of MAPs are currently unknown [195].

Alcohol Strategy

Federal and provincial/territorial alcohol strategies or action plans can help prioritize and coordinate alcohol policy initiatives and interventions under government leadership [13, 196], However, their effectiveness relies on inclusion of specific and measurable goals sustainably implemented across evidence-based policy domains based on international research and policy development [13, 15, 197]. Importantly, the involvement of alcohol industry in government strategy must be strictly avoided since this has been shown to compromise the robust development and implementation of alcohol strategies in several jurisdictions due to the inherent conflict of interest [198-200].

Definitive evaluations of alcohol strategies are challenging to conduct due to the complexity of the components of a strategy and how they interplay to produce change, as well as prevailing trends in other socioeconomic and political factors outside of policy that may impact alcohol use and related harm [201]. England's first national alcohol strategy was criticized for a lack of emphasis on the most effective, evidence-based strategies, new funding to support implementation, weak leadership, and a failure to define measurable targets to track progress [202].



More recently, research looking at Russia's comprehensive and long-term strategy to reduce alcohol related harm, which since 2010 has included elements related to the WHO "best buy policies" to control alcohol consumption at the retail level (i.e., controls on advertising, taxation/pricing interventions, and policies to reduce physical availability) concluded the strategy has contributed significantly to substantial reductions in per capita alcohol consumption and related harm and costs [203-205]. Scotland also provides an example of a robust alcohol strategy developed without industry involvement that includes clear timelines and comprehensive evaluation and reporting plan to measure the success of planned policy actions, such as implementation of a national minimum unit price for alcohol [206, 207].

Monitoring and Reporting

An essential component of any alcohol harm reduction strategy includes the routine and comprehensive monitoring of changes in alcohol consumption, drinking patterns and alcohol-related health and social harms over time [13, 14, 201, 208]. Such monitoring, combined with the tracking of policy implementation and other actions, allows for the assessment of what interventions are most effective, which, in turn, informs future strategies for tackling alcohol-related harm [14, 209].

Monitoring is a systematic and continuous process to collect, analyze and interpret up-to-date and relevant information from various data sources over time to assess policy or program effectiveness [210, 211]. Public reporting is the process of making performance data and information more accessible to the public in an effort to be more transparent and accountable. Where feasible, monitoring should incorporate measurement across population subgroups (e.g., age, sex, gender, income, and urban versus rural) to provide insight into policy reach and effectiveness for priority populations [212, 213]. This is particularly important for directing limited resources towards areas with the greatest need.

A comprehensive alcohol monitoring and reporting system can inform and facilitate effective policy and enhance comparability and interpretation across jurisdictions [13, 14, 208]. Effective dissemination of the results of monitoring (i.e. public reporting) is important for demonstrating accountability to stakeholders and can serve to raise the awareness of the contribution of alcohol to a wide range of health conditions. Publicly reporting monitoring and evaluation results may also stimulate improvement efforts, as demonstrated in health care quality and safety efforts [214-216]. Strong leadership and sufficient resources are required to support monitoring and reporting efforts [13, 21].

Publicly highlighting rates of specific health and social harms associated with alcohol use can help raise awareness of the need for improved implementation of policies to reduce these harms. Levels of awareness of some serious harms from alcohol, such as elevated risk of some cancers, are low in Canada [150]. Low awareness of risks from alcohol has been shown to be associated with reduced public support for evidence-based alcohol policies [217].



References

- 1. Stockwell, T., et al., *Strategies to Reduce Alcohol-Related Harms and Costs in Canada: A Review of Provincial and Territorial Policies*. 2019, Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research.
- 2. Wettlaufer, A., et al., *Strategies to Reduce Alcohol-Related Harms and Costs in Canada: A Review of Federal Policies*. 2019, Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research.
- 3. Giesbrecht, N., et al., *Strategies to reduce alcohol-related harms and costs in Canada: A comparison of provincial policies*. 2013, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health: Toronto.
- 4. Vallance, K., et al., *Strategies for engaging policy stakeholders to translate research knowledge into practice more effectively: Lessons learned from the Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation project.* Drug and Alcohol Review, 2022. **41**(1): p. 246-255 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13313</u>
- Vallance, K., et al., The Canadian Alcohol Policy Evaluation project: Findings from a review of provincial and territorial alcohol policies. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2021. 40(6): p. 937-945 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13251</u>
- 6. Giesbrecht, N., et al., Alcohol retail privatisation in Canadian provinces between 2012 and 2017. Is decision making oriented to harm reduction? Drug and Alcohol Review, 2021. **40**(3): p. 459-467 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13229</u>
- Wettlaufer, A., S.N. Cukier, and N. Giesbrecht, *Comparing Alcohol Marketing and Alcohol Warning Message Policies Across Canada*. Substance Use & Misuse, 2017. 52(10): p. 1364-1374 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2017.1281308</u>
- 8. Giesbrecht, N., et al., Strategies to reduce alcohol-related harms and costs in Canada: A comparison of provincial policies. International Journal of Alcohol and Drug Research, 2016. 5(2):
 p. 13-33 <u>https://doi.org/10.7895/ijadr.v5i2.221</u>
- 9. Giesbrecht, N., et al., *Pricing of alcohol in Canada: A comparison of provincial policies and harmreduction opportunities.* Drug and Alcohol Review, 2016. **35**(3): p. 289-297 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12338</u>
- 10. Solomon, R., et al., *A Summary of Provincial and Territorial Traffic Legislation Related to Alcohol-Impaired Driving April 16, 2018.* . 2018, MADD Canada: London, ON.
- 11. Burton, A., et al., *Barriers, facilitators, and effective interventions for lowering cardiovascular disease risk in people with severe mental illnesses: evidence from a systematic review and focus group study.* Lancet, 2016. **388**: p. 30-30 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32266-8</u>
- 12. Nelson, T.F., et al., *Efficacy and the Strength of Evidence of U.S. Alcohol Control Policies.* American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2013. **45**(1): p. 19-28 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.03.008</u>
- 13. World Health Organization, *Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol*. 2010, World Health Organization.
- 14. World Health Organization, *The SAFER technical package: five areas of intervention at national and subnational levels*. 2019: Geneva.
- 15. World Health Organization, *Draft Action Plan (2022–2030) to Effectively Implement The Global Strategy to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol as a Public Health Priority*. 2022, World Health Organization,.
- 16. Babor, T.F., et al., *Alcohol: No Ordinary Commodity: Research and Public Policy*. 2010, Oxford University Press.
- 17. Anderson, P., D. Chisholm, and D. Fuhr, *Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol.* The Lancet, 2009. **373**(9682): p. 2234 2246 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60744-3
- Karlsson, T. and E. Österberg, A scale of formal alcohol control policy in 15 European countries. Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2001. 18(1_Supplement): p. 117-131 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/145507250101801s01</u>



- 19. Brand, D.A., et al., *Comparative analysis of alcohol control policies in 30 countries*. Plos Medicine, 2007. **4**(4): p. 752-759 <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040151</u>
- 20. Naimi, T.S., et al., A New Scale of the U.S. Alcohol Policy Environment and Its Relationship to Binge Drinking. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2014. **46**(1): p. 10-16 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.07.015
- 21. Canadian Public Health Association, *Too high a cost: A public health approach to alcohol policy in Canada. Canadian Public Health Association Position Paper*. 2011, Canadian Public Health Association,: Ottawa.
- 22. Pan American Health Organization, *Alcohol Policy Scoring: Assessing the level of implementation of the WHO Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol in the Region of the Americas.* 2018, PAHO: Washington, D.C.
- 23. Meier, P.S., R. Purshouse, and A. Brennan, *Policy Options for Alcohol Price Regulation: Response to the Commentaries.* Addiction, 2010. **105**(3): p. 400-401 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.02928.x</u>
- 24. Babor, T.F., et al., *Alcohol: No Ordinary Commodity: Research and Public Policy*. 2022, Oxford University Press: New York. p. pages cm.
- 25. Chaloupka, F.J., L.M. Powell, and K.E. Warner, *The Use of Excise Taxes to Reduce Tobacco, Alcohol, and Sugary Beverage Consumption.* Annual Review of Public Health, 2019. **40**: p. 187-201 <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-043816</u>
- 26. Churchill, S., T. Stockwell, and A. Sherk, *What proportion of the price of a typical alcoholic beverage is taxation in Canada and why does it matter?* Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada, 2021. **41**(2): p. 65-67 <u>https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.41.2.05</u>
- 27. Roche, M., R.C. Sandoval, and M.G. Monteiro, *Comparing taxes on alcoholic beverages in the Region of the Americas*. Addiction, 2023: p. 1-7 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16146</u>
- 28. Angus, C., *Modelling the impact of alcohol duty policies since 2012 in England & Scotland*. 2019, The University of Sheffield: Sheffield, UK.
- 29. Anderson, P., et al., *Impact of minimum unit pricing on alcohol purchases in Scotland and Wales: controlled interrupted time series analyses.* Lancet Public Health, 2021. **6**(8): p. e557-e565 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-2667(21)00052-9</u>
- 30. O'Donnell, A., et al., *Immediate impact of minimum unit pricing on alcohol purchases in Scotland: controlled interrupted time series analysis for 2015-18.* BMJ, 2019. **366**: p. I5274 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5274</u>
- 31. Wyper, G.M.A., et al., *Evaluating the impact of alcohol minimum unit pricing on deaths and hospitalisations in Scotland: a controlled interrupted time series study.* The Lancet, 2023 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00497-X
- 32. Sherk, A., et al., *The potential health impact of an alcohol minimum unit price in Québec: An application of the International Model of Alcohol Harms and Policies.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020. **81**(5): p. 631-640 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.631</u>
- 33. Stockwell, T., et al., *The raising of minimum alcohol prices in Saskatchewan, Canada: impacts on consumption and implications for public health.* American Journal of Public Health, 2012.
 102(12): p. e103-10 <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2012.301094</u>
- 34. Stockwell, T., et al., *Does minimum pricing reduce alcohol consumption? The experience of a Canadian province*. Addiction, 2012. **107**(5): p. 912-920 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03763.x</u>
- 35. Zhao, J. and T. Stockwell, *The impacts of minimum alcohol pricing on alcohol attributable morbidity in regions of British Colombia, Canada with low, medium and high mean family income*. Addiction, 2017. **112**(11): p. 1942-1951 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13902</u>
- 36. Coomber, K., et al., *Investigating the introduction of the alcohol minimum unit price in the Northern Territory: Summary Report*. 2020, Deakin University: Geelong, Australia.



- 37. Zhao, J., et al., *The relationship between minimum alcohol prices, outlet densities and alcoholattributable deaths in British Columbia, 2002-09.* Addiction, 2013. **108**(6): p. 1059-69 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12139</u>
- 38. National Alcohol Strategy Advisory Committee, *Social reference prices for alcohol: A tool for Canadian governments to promote a culture of moderation*. 2015, Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction: Ottawa.
- 39. Stockwell, T., et al., Assessing the impacts of Saskatchewan's minimum alcohol pricing regulations on alcohol-related crime. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2017. **36**(4): p. 492-501 https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12471
- 40. Sherk, A., T. Stockwell, and R.C. Callaghan, *The effect on emergency department visits of raised alcohol minimum prices in Saskatchewan, Canada*. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2018. **37**: p. S357-S365 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12670</u>
- 41. Holmes, J., et al., *Effects of minimum unit pricing for alcohol on different income and socioeconomic groups: a modelling study.* The Lancet, 2014. **383**(9929): p. 1655-1664 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62417-4
- 42. Dimova, E.D., et al., Alcohol minimum unit pricing and people experiencing homelessness: A qualitative study of stakeholders' perspectives and experiences. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2023.
 42(1): p. 81-93 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13548</u>
- 43. Thomas, G., *Price Policies to Reduce Alcohol-Related Harm in Canada*, in *Alcohol Price Policy Series*. 2012, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse: Ottawa, ON.
- 44. Livingston, M., Implications of outlet density, type and concentration on alcohol consumption & harm., in Seminar presentation, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. 2012: Toronto.
- 45. Myran, D.T., et al., *The association between alcohol access and alcohol-attributable emergency department visits in Ontario, Canada*. Addiction, 2019. **114**(7): p. 1183-1191 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14597</u>
- 46. Myran, D.T., et al., Alcohol Availability Across Neighborhoods in Ontario Following Alcohol Sales Deregulation, 2013–2017. American Journal of Public Health, 2019. **109**(6): p. 899-905 <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305014</u>
- 47. Stockwell, T., et al., *Impact on alcohol-related mortality of a rapid rise in the density of private liquor outlets in British Columbia: a local area multi-level analysis.* Addiction, 2011. **106**(4): p. 768-776 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03331.x</u>
- 48. Livingston, M. and C. Wilkinson, *Controlling density, trading hours, and zoning to reduce alcoholrelated harm*, in *Prevention of Alcohol-Related Problems: Evidence and Community-based Initiatives*, N. Giesbrecht and B. L.M., Editors. 2018, APHA Press: Washington, DC. p. 221-234.
- 49. Stockwell, T., et al., Changes in per capita alcohol sales during the partial privatization of British Columbia's retail alcohol monopoly 2003-2008: a multi-level local area analysis. Addiction, 2009.
 104(11): p. 1827-36 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02658.x</u>
- 50. Stockwell, T., et al., *Minimum alcohol prices and outlet densities in British Columbia, Canada: estimated impacts on alcohol-attributable hospital admissions.* American Journal of Public Health, 2013. **103**(11): p. 2014
 - https://doi.org/https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301289
- 51. Popova, S., et al., *Hours and days of sale and density of alcohol outlets: Impacts on alcohol consumption and damage: A systematic review.* Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2009. **44**(5): p. 500-516 https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agp054
- 52. Chen, M.J., J.W. Grube, and P.J. Gruenewald, *Community alcohol outlet density and underage drinking*. Addiction, 2010. **105**(2): p. 270-8 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02772.x</u>
- 53. Trapp, G.S.A., et al., *Proximity to Liquor Stores and Adolescent Alcohol Intake: A Prospective Study.* American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2018. **54**(6): p. 825-830 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.01.043</u>



- 54. Wang, S.H., et al., Availability of convenience stores and adolescent alcohol use in Taiwan: a multi-level analysis of national surveys. Addiction, 2013. **108**(12): p. 2081-8 https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12278
- 55. Giesbrecht, N., et al., Acute alcohol use among suicide decedents in 14 US states: impacts of offpremise and on-premise alcohol outlet density. Addiction, 2015. **110**(2): p. 300-307 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12762</u>
- 56. Wilkinson, C. and M. Livingston, *Distances to on- and off-premise alcohol outlets and experiences of alcohol-related amenity problems.* Drug and Alcohol Review, 2012. **31**(4): p. 394-401 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2011.00346.x
- 57. Stockwell, T. and P. Gruenwald, *Controls on the physical availability of alcohol*, in *The Essential Handbook of Treatment and Prevention of Alcohol Problems*, N. Heather and T. Stockwell, Editors. 2004: Chichester, England. p. 213-233.
- 58. Livingston, M., T. Chikritzhs, and R. Room, *Changing the density of alcohol outlets to reduce alcohol-related problems*. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2007. **26**(5): p. 557-566 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09595230701499191</u>
- 59. Sherk, A., et al., *Alcohol consumption and the physical availability of take-away alcohol: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of the days and hours of sale and outlet density.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2018. **79**(1): p. 58-67 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2018.79.58</u>
- Wilkinson, C., M. Livingston, and R. Room, *Impacts of changes to trading hours of liquor licences on alcohol-related harm: a systematic review 2005–2015*. Public Health Research & Practice, 2016. 26(4) <u>https://doi.org/10.17061/phrp2641644</u>
- 61. Rossow, I. and T. Norström, *The impact of small changes in bar closing hours on violence. The Norwegian experience from 18 cities*. Addiction, 2012. **107**(3): p. 530-537 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03643.x
- 62. de Goeij, M.C., et al., *The impact of extended closing times of alcohol outlets on alcohol-related injuries in the nightlife areas of Amsterdam: a controlled before-and-after evaluation*. Addiction, 2015. **110**(6): p. 955-64 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12886</u>
- 63. Schofield, T.P. and T.F. Denson, *Alcohol outlet business hours and violent crime in New York State.* Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2013. **48**(3): p. 363-369 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agt003</u>
- 64. Kolosnitsyna, M., M. Sitdikov, and N. Khorkina, *Availability restrictions and alcohol consumption: A case of restricted hours of alcohol sales in Russian regions.* International Journal for Alcohol and Drug Research, 2014. **3**(3): p. 9 <u>https://doi.org/10.7895/ijadr.v3i3.154</u>
- 65. Chikritzhs, T. and T. Stockwell, *The impact of later trading hours for hotels (public houses) on breath alcohol levels of apprehended impaired drivers.* Addiction, 2007. **102**(10): p. 1609-1617 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01981.x</u>
- 66. Stockwell, T. and T. Chikritzhs, *Do relaxed trading hours for bars and clubs mean more relaxed drinking? A review of international research on the impacts of changes to permitted hours of drinking*. Crime Prevention and Community Safety, 2009. **11**(3): p. 18 https://doi.org/10.1057/cpcs.2009.11
- 67. Vingilis, E., et al., *Impact of extended drinking hours in Ontario on motor-vehicle collision and non-motor-vehicle collision injuries.* Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs, 2007. **68**(6): p. 905-911 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2007.68.905</u>
- 68. Kypri, K., et al., *Effects of restricting pub closing times on night-time assaults in an Australian city*. Addiction, 2011. **106**(2): p. 303-310 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03125.x</u>
- 69. Marcus, J. and T. Siedler, *Reducing binge drinking? The effect of a ban on late-night off-premise alcohol sales on alcohol-related hospital stays in Germany*. Journal of Public Economics, 2015.
 123: p. 55-77 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2014.12.010</u>



- 70. Wicki, M. and G. Gmel, *Hospital admission rates for alcoholic intoxication after policy changes in the canton of Geneva, Switzerland.* Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 2011. **118**(2): p. 209-215 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.03.020
- 71. Nepal, S., et al., *Effects of Extensions and Restrictions in Alcohol Trading Hours on the Incidence of Assault and Unintentional Injury: Systematic Review.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020. **81**(1): p. 5-23 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.5</u>
- 72. Donnelly, N., S. Poynton, and D. Weatherburn, *The effect of lockout and last drinks laws on nondomestic assaults in Sydney: An update to September 2016*, in *Crime and Justice Bulletin No. 201*. 2017, NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research: Sydney
- 73. Neufeld, M., et al., *Is Alcohol an "Essential Good" During COVID-19? Yes, but Only as a Disinfectant!* Alcohol: Clinical and Experimental Research, 2020. **44**(9): p. 1906-1909 https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.14417
- 74. Colbert, S., et al., Online alcohol sales and home delivery: An international policy review and systematic literature review. Health Policy, 2021. **125**(9): p. 1222-1237 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2021.07.005
- 75. Huckle, T., et al., Online alcohol delivery is associated with heavier drinking during the first New Zealand COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2021. **40**(5): p. 826-834 https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13222
- 76. VicHealth. *On-demand alcohol delivery services and risky drinking*. 2020 [cited 2023 February 8 2023]; Available from: <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/media-and-resources/publications/alcohol-delivery-risky-drinking</u>#4.
- 77. Colbert, S., et al., *Cross-sectional survey of a convenience sample of Australians who use alcohol home delivery services.* Drug and Alcohol Review, 2023: p. 1-10 https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13627
- 78. Reuter, H., et al., *Prohibiting alcohol sales during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic has positive effects on health services in South Africa*. African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine, 2020. **12**(1): p. e1-e4 <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/phcfm.v12i1.2528</u>
- 79. Mäkelä, P. and E. Osterberg, *Weakening of one more alcohol control pillar: a review of the effects of the alcohol tax cuts in Finland in 2004.* Addiction, 2009. **104**(4): p. 554-63 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02517.x
- 80. Herttua, K., P. Mäkelä, and P. Martikainen, *The effects of a large reduction in alcohol prices on hospitalizations related to alcohol: a population-based natural experiment*. Addiction, 2011.
 106(4): p. 759-67 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03296.x</u>
- 81. Hahn, R.A., et al., *Effects of Alcohol Retail Privatization on Excessive Alcohol Consumption and Related Harms*. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2012. **42**(4): p. 418-427 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.01.002</u>
- 82. Harding, F.M., et al., *Underage Drinking: A Review of Trends and Prevention Strategies*. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2016. **51**(4, Supplement 2): p. S148-S157 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.05.020
- 83. Adrian, M., B.S. Ferguson, and M.H. Her, *Does allowing the sale of wine in Quebec grocery stores increase consumption?* Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 1996. **57**(4): p. 434-448 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1996.57.434</u>
- 84. Trolldal, B., *Alcohol consumption in Sweden 2015.*, in *CAN report 160*. 2015, Central Association for Alcohol and Drugs: Stockholm.
- Wagenaar, A.C. and H.D. Holder, Changes in Alcohol-Consumption Resulting from the Elimination of Retail Wine Monopolies Results from 5 Us States. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 1995. 56(5):
 p. 566-572 <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1995.56.566</u>
- 86. Ramstedt, M., The repeal of medium strength beer in grocery stores in Sweden—the impact on alcohol-related hospitalisations in different age groups, in The Effects of Nordic Alcohol Policies:

CAPE 3.0: Methodology and Evidence (Federal and Provincial/Territorial)



What Happens to Drinking and Harm When Alcohol Controls Change? NAD Publication 42, R. Room, Editor. 2002, Nordic Council for Alcohol and Drug Research: Helsinki. p. 117-131.

- Stockwell, T., et al., *Estimating the public health impact of disbanding a government alcohol monopoly: Application of new methods to the case of Sweden*. BMC Public Health, 2018. 18: p. 1400 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6312-x</u>
- 88. Stockwell, T., et al., *What are the public health and safety benefits of the Swedish government alcohol monopoly?* 2017: Victoria, BC: Centre for Addictions Research of BC, University of Victoria, Canada.
- 89. Mahon, L. and J. Nicholls, *Using licensing to protect public health: From evidence to practice*. 2014, Alcohol Research UK

Alcohol Focus Scotland

- 90. The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology, *Shining a light on international alcohol industry lobbying [Editorial]*. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2022. **7**(4): p. 275 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-1253(22)00060-7</u>
- 91. Stockwell, T., et al., *Government options to reduce the impact of alcohol on human health: Obstacles to effective policy implementation.* Nutrients, 2021. **13**(8) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13082846</u>
- 92. Senserrick, T.M. and A.F. Williams, *Summary of literature of the effective components of graduated driver licensing systems*. 2015.
- 93. McCartt, A.T. and E.R. Teoh, *Tracking progress in teenage driver crash risk in the United States* since the advent of graduated driver licensing programs. Journal of Safety Research, 2015. **53**: p. 1-9 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2015.01.001</u>
- 94. Masten, S.V., et al., *Meta-analysis of graduated driver licensing laws*. 2015, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration: Washington, DC.
- 95. Williams, A.F., *Graduated driver licensing (GDL) in the United States in 2016: A literature review and commentary.* Journal of Safety Research, 2017. **63**: p. 29-41 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2017.08.010
- 96. Beirness, D.J. and E.E. Beasley, *An evaluation of immediate roadside prohibitions for drinking drivers in British Columbia: findings from roadside surveys*. Traffic Injury Prevention, 2014. **15**(3): p. 228-33 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2013.813628</u>
- 97. Byrne, P.A., T. Ma, and Y. Elzohairy, *Vehicle impoundments improve drinking and driving licence suspension outcomes: Large-scale evidence from Ontario.* Accident Analysis and Prevention, 2016. **95**(Pt A): p. 125-31 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2016.07.005</u>
- 98. Byrne, P.A., et al., *Evaluation of the general deterrence capacity of recently implemented (2009-2010) low and Zero BAC requirements for drivers in Ontario*. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 2016. **88**: p. 56-67 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2015.12.002</u>
- 99. Solomon, R., L. MacLeod, and E. Dumschat, *The increasing role of provincial administrative sanctions in Canadian impaired driving enforcement*. Traffic Injury Prevention, 2020. **21**(5): p. 298-302 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2020.1748605</u>
- 100. Elder, R.W., et al., *Effectiveness of ignition interlocks for preventing alcohol-impaired driving and alcohol-related crashes: a Community Guide systematic review*. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2011. **40**(3): p. 362-76 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2010.11.012</u>
- 101. Vanlaar, W.G., M. Mainegra Hing, and R.D. Robertson, An evaluation of Nova Scotia's alcohol ignition interlock program. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 2017. 100: p. 44-52 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2016.12.017
- 102. Teoh, E.R., et al., *State alcohol ignition interlock laws and fatal crashes*. Traffic Injury Prevention, 2021. **22**(8): p. 589-592 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15389588.2021.1984439</u>
- 103. Houwing, S., *Alcohol interlocks and drink driving rehabilitation in the European Union*. 2016, European Transport Safety Council.



- 104. Stuster, J., M. Bums, and D. Fiorentino, *Open Container Laws and Alcohol Involved Crashes: Some Preliminary Data*. 2002: Washington, DC.
- 105. Eisenberg, D., *Evaluating the effectiveness of policies related to drunk driving*. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 2003. **22**(2): p. 249-274 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.10116</u>
- 106. Ying, Y.H., C.C. Wu, and K. Chang, *The effectiveness of drinking and driving policies for different alcohol-related fatalities: a quantile regression analysis.* International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 2013. **10**(10): p. 4628-44 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10104628</u>
- 107. Dubois, S., et al., *The combined effects of alcohol and cannabis on driving: Impact on crash risk.* Forensic Science International, 2015. **248**: p. 94-100 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2014.12.018
- 108. Simmons, S.M., et al., *The effects of cannabis and alcohol on driving performance and driver behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Addiction, 2022. **117**(7): p. 1843-1856 https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15770
- 109. Fell, J.C. and R.B. Voas, *The effectiveness of a 0.05 blood alcohol concentration (BAC) limit for driving in the United States*. Addiction, 2014. **109**(6): p. 869-74 https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12365
- 110. Lira, M.C., et al., Alcohol Policies and Motor Vehicle Crash Deaths Involving Blood Alcohol Concentrations Below 0.08. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2020. **58**(5): p. 622-629 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.12.015
- Jiang, H., M. Livingston, and E. Manton, *The effects of random breath testing and lowering the minimum legal drinking age on traffic fatalities in Australian states*. Injury Prevention, 2015.
 21(2): p. 77-83 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/injuryprev-2014-041303</u>
- 112. Morrison, C.N., et al., *Alcohol-involved motor vehicle crashes and the size and duration of random breath testing checkpoints*. Alcohol Clinical & Experimental Research, 2021. **45**(4): p. 784-792 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.14583</u>
- 113. Parmar, J., et al., *Breath tests in Western Australia: Examining the economic dividends and effectiveness of general deterrence*. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 2020. **136**: p. 105430 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2019.105430
- 114. Mahaney, P., J.R. Kalin, and J.L. Valentine, *Understanding Blood Analysis in DUI and Traffic Homicide Investigations*. 2011.
- 115. Greer, P., *Model Impaired Driving Records Information Systems: Tying Together Data Systems to Manage Impaired Drivers*. 2011, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration: Washington, DC.
- 116. World Health Organization, *Scaling up action against noncommunicable diseases: how much will it cost?* 2011, World Health Organization.
- 117. Wardle, J., *Price-based promotions of alcohol: legislative consistencies and inconsistencies across the Australian retail, entertainment and media sectors.* International Journal of Drug Policy, 2015. **26**(5): p. 522-30 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2015.01.013</u>
- 118. World Health Organization, *Reducing the harm from alcohol by regulating cross-border alcohol marketing, advertising and promotion: a technical report.* 2022: Geneva.
- 119. Noel, J.K., T.F. Babor, and K. Robaina, *Industry self-regulation of alcohol marketing: a systematic review of content and exposure research.* Addiction, 2017. **112**(S1): p. 28-50 https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13410
- Noel, J.K. and T.F. Babor, *Does industry self-regulation protect young people from exposure to alcohol marketing? A review of compliance and complaint studies.* Addiction, 2017. 112 Suppl 1: p. 51-56 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13432</u>
- 121. Noel, J., et al., *Alcohol industry self-regulation: who is it really protecting?* Addiction, 2017. **112**(S1): p. 57-63 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13433</u>



- 122. World Health Organization, Alcohol marketing in the WHO European Region: update report on the evidence and recommended policy actions. 2020, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe,.
- 123. Atkinson, A.M., H. Sumnall, and B. Meadows, 'We're in this together': A content analysis of marketing by alcohol brands on Facebook and Instagram during the first UK Lockdown, 2020. International Journal of Drug Policy, 2021. 98: p. 103376 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2021.103376
- 124. Sargent, J.D. and T.F. Babor, *The Relationship Between Exposure to Alcohol Marketing and Underage Drinking Is Causal.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020(Supplement 19): p. 113-124 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsads.2020.s19.113</u>
- 125. Hastings, G. and K. Angus, *Under the influence: The damaging effect of alcohol marketing on young people*. 2009, BMA Board of Science
- 126. Barry, A.E., et al., *Characteristics and Effectiveness of Alcohol Website Age Gates Preventing Underage User Access*. Alcohol Alcohol, 2021. **56**(1): p. 82-88 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agaa090</u>
- 127. Scobie, G., et al., *Review of alcohol marketing restrictions in seven European countries*. 2022, Public Health Scotland.
- 128. Carlin, E., et al., *Digital marketing of alcohol: challenges and policy options for better health in the WHO European Region*. 2021, WHO Regional Office for Europe: Copenhagen.
- 129. Guttmannova, K., et al., *Sensitive Periods for Adolescent Alcohol Use Initiation: Predicting the Lifetime Occurrence and Chronicity of Alcohol Problems in Adulthood.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2011. **72**(2): p. 221-231 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2011.72.221</u>
- Silins, E., et al., Adverse adult consequences of different alcohol use patterns in adolescence: an integrative analysis of data to age 30 years from four Australasian cohorts. Addiction, 2018.
 113(10): p. 1811-1825 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14263</u>
- 131. Plunk, A.D., et al., *The persistent effects of minimum legal drinking age laws on drinking patterns later in life*. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research, 2013. **37**(3): p. 463-469 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01945.x
- 132. Norberg, K.E., L.J. Bierut, and R.A. Grucza, *Long-Term Effects of Minimum Drinking Age Laws on Past-Year Alcohol and Drug Use Disorders.* Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 2009.
 33(12): p. 2180-2190 <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2009.01056.x</u>
- 133. Heckley, G., U. Gerdtham, and J. Jarl, *Too Young to Die: Regression Discontinuity of a Two-Part Minimum Legal Drinking Age Policy and the Causal Effect of Alcohol on Health, Working Papers* 2018, Department of Economics. : Lund University.
- 134. Wagenaar, A.C. and T.L. Toomey, *Effects of minimum drinking age laws: Review and analyses of the literature from 1960 to 2000.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2002: p. 206-225 https://doi.org/10.15288/jsas.2002.s14.206
- 135. DeJong, W. and J. Blanchette, *Case Closed: Research Evidence on the Positive Public Health Impact of the Age 21 Minimum Legal Drinking Age in the United States.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, Supplement, 2014(s17): p. 108-115 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsads.2014.s17.108</u>
- 136. Ahammer, A., et al., *Minimum legal drinking age and the social gradient in binge drinking*. Journal of Health Economics, 2022. **81**: p. 102571 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2021.102571</u>
- Benny, C., et al., Assessing the impacts of minimum legal drinking age laws on police-reported violent victimization in Canada from 2009 to 2013. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 2019. 197: p. 65-72 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.12.025</u>
- 138. Brachowicz, N. and J. Vall Castello, *Is changing the minimum legal drinking age an effective policy tool?* Health Economics, 2019. **28**(12): p. 1483-1490 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3955</u>



- 139. Roodbeen, R.T.J., et al., *Examining the Intended and Unintended Impacts of Raising a Minimum Legal Drinking Age on Primary and Secondary Societal Harm and Violence from a Contextual Policy Perspective: A Scoping Review*. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 2021. **18**(4) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041999</u>
- 140. Ontario Ministry of Health. *Rules for selling tobacco and vapour products*. 2021; Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/rules-selling-tobacco-and-vapour-products</u>.
- 141. Minnesota Office of the Revisor of Statutes. 2022 Minnesota Statutes: 461.22 Age verification and signage requirements. 2022; Available from: https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/461.22.
- 142. Retail of Alcohol Standards Group, *Rising to the Challenge: A report into the application and impact of Challenge 25.*
- 143. Williams, R.S. and K.M. Ribisl, *Internet alcohol sales to minors.* Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 2012. **166**(9): p. 808-13 <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2012.265</u>
- 144. Fletcher, L.A., et al., *Alcohol home delivery services: a source of alcohol for underage drinkers.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 2000. **61**(1): p. 81-4 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2000.61.81</u>
- 145. Giesbrecht, N., E. Reisdorfer, and I. Rios, *Alcohol Health Warning Labels: A Rapid Review with Action Recommendations.* International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 2022. **19**(18) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191811676</u>
- 146. Kaskutas, L. and T.K. Greenfield, *First effects of warning labels on alcoholic beverage containers*. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 1992. **31**(1): p. 1-14 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0376-</u> <u>8716(92)90002-T</u>
- 147. Vallance, K., et al., "We Have a Right to Know": Exploring Consumer Opinions on Content, Design and Acceptability of Enhanced Alcohol Labels. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2018. **53**(1): p. 20-25 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agx068</u>
- 148. Hobin, E., et al., *Testing alcohol labels as a tool to communicate cancer risk to drinkers: A real-world quasi-experimental study*. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020. **81**(2): p. 249-261 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.249</u>
- 149. Al-hamdani, M. and S. Smith, Alcohol warning label perceptions: Emerging evidence for alcohol policy. Canadian Journal of Public Health, 2015. 106(6): p. 6 https://doi.org/10.17269/cjph.106.5116
- 150. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. *Alcohol Policies*. 2011; Available from: <u>https://www.partnershipagainstcancer.ca/topics/alcohol-policies/background-statistics/</u>.
- 151. Kersbergen, I. and M. Field, Alcohol consumers' attention to warning labels and brand information on alcohol packaging: Findings from cross-sectional and experimental studies. BMC Public Health, 2017. 17 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4055-8</u>
- 152. Zhao, J., et al., *The effects of alcohol warning labels on population alcohol consumption: An interrupted time series analysis of alcohol sales in Yukon, Canada.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020. **81**(2): p. 225-237 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.225</u>
- 153. Schoueri-Mychasiw, N., et al., Examining the Impact of Alcohol Labels on Awareness and Knowledge of National Drinking Guidelines: A Real-World Study in Yukon, Canada. Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020. 81(2): p. 262-272 https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.262
- 154. Stockwell, T., et al., *Cancer warning labels on alcohol containers: A consumer's right to know, a government's responsibility to inform, and an industry's power to thwart.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2020. **81**(2): p. 284-292 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.284</u>
- 155. Sherk, A., et al., *Calorie intake from alcohol in Canada: Why new labelling requirements are necessary*. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research, 2019. **80**(3): p. 111-115 https://doi.org/10.3148/cjdpr-2018-046



- 156. Dimova, E.D. and D. Mitchell, *Rapid literature review on the impact of health messaging and product information on alcohol labelling*. Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 2022. **29**(5): p. 451-463 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09687637.2021.1932754</u>
- 157. Kokole, D., P. Anderson, and E. Jané-Llopis, *Nature and Potential Impact of Alcohol Health Warning Labels: A Scoping Review.* Nutrients, 2021. **13**(9) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13093065</u>
- 158. Cil, G., Effects of posted point-of-sale warnings on alcohol consumption during pregnancy and on birth outcomes. Journal of Health Economics, 2017. 53: p. 131-155 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.03.004
- 159. Budenz, A., et al., *Awareness of Alcohol and Cancer Risk and the California Proposition 65 Warning Sign Updates: A Natural Experiment*. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 2022. **19**(19) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191911862</u>
- 160. Brennan, E., et al., Understanding the effectiveness of advertisements about the long-term harms of alcohol and low-risk drinking guidelines: A mediation analysis. Social Science and Medicine, 2021. **270**: p. 113596 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113596</u>
- 161. Wakefield, M.A., et al., *Immediate effects on adult drinkers of exposure to alcohol harm reduction advertisements with and without drinking guideline messages: experimental study.* Addiction, 2018. **113**(6): p. 1019-1029 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14147</u>
- 162. Dixon, H.G., et al., Using a mass media campaign to raise women's awareness of the link between alcohol and cancer: cross-sectional pre-intervention and post-intervention evaluation surveys. BMJ Open, 2015. **5**(3): p. e006511 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006511</u>
- 163. Christensen, A.S.P., et al., Can a mass media campaign raise awareness of alcohol as a risk factor for cancer and public support for alcohol related policies? Preventive Medicine, 2019. 126: p. 105722 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.05.010
- 164. Martin, N., et al., *Population Level Effects of a Mass Media Alcohol and Breast Cancer Campaign: A Cross-Sectional Pre-Intervention and Post-Intervention Evaluation*. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2018. **53**(1): p. 31-38 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agx071</u>
- 165. Pettigrew, S., et al., *Evaluation outcomes of an alcohol and pregnancy campaign targeting multiple audiences.* Drug and Alcohol Review, 2023. **42**(1): p. 36-45 https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13541
- 166. Young, B., et al., *Effectiveness of Mass Media Campaigns to Reduce Alcohol Consumption and Harm: A Systematic Review*. Alcohol Alcohol, 2018. **53**(3): p. 302-316 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agx094</u>
- 167. Wakefield, M.A., et al., *Features of alcohol harm reduction advertisements that most motivate reduced drinking among adults: an advertisement response study.* BMJ Open, 2017. **7**(4): p. e014193 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014193</u>
- 168. Jackson, D.N., et al., Americans' Trust in Health Information Sources: Trends and Sociodemographic Predictors. American Journal of Health Promotion 2019. 33(8): p. 1187-1193 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117119861280</u>
- 169. Norström, T. and B. Trolldal, *Was the STAD programme really that successful?* Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2013. **30**(3): p. 171-178 <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/nsad-2013-0014</u>
- 170. Wiggers, J., et al., *Strategies and outcomes in translating alcohol harm reduction research into practice: the Alcohol Linking Program.* Drug and Alcohol Review, 2004. **23**(3): p. 355-64 https://doi.org/10.1080/09595230412331289518
- 171. Wiggers, J.H., et al., Facilitating police recording of the alcohol-related characteristics of assault incidents: A stepped wedge implementation trial. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2016. **35**(1): p. 30-39 https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12330
- 172. Briscoe, S. and N. Donnelly, *Assaults on licensed premises in inner-urban areas*. 2001, Curtin University: New South Wales, Australia.



- 173. Dorji, G., et al., *Increasing compliance with alcohol service laws in a developing country: intervention trial in the Kingdom of Bhutan.* Addiction, 2016. **111**(3): p. 467-74 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13202</u>
- 174. Flewelling, R.L., et al., *Reducing youth access to alcohol: findings from a community-based randomized trial.* American Journal of Community Psychology, 2013. **51**(1-2): p. 264-277 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-012-9529-3
- 175. McKnight, A.J. and F.M. Streff, *The effect of enforcement upon service of alcohol to intoxicated patrons of bars and restaurants.* Accident Analysis & Prevention, 1994. **26**(1): p. 79-88 https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-4575(94)90070-1
- 176. Van Hoof, J.J., et al., *Alcohol sales to underage buyers in the Netherlands in 2011 and 2013.* Journal of Adolescent Health, 2015. **56**(4): p. 468-70 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.11.025
- 177. Dresser, J., et al., *Field trial of alcohol-server training for prevention of fetal alcohol syndrome.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, 2011. **72**(3): p. 490-6 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2011.72.490</u>
- Holder, H.D. and A.C. Wagenaar, Mandated server training and reduced alcohol-involved traffic crashes: a time series analysis of the Oregon experience. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 1994.
 26(1): p. 89-97 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-4575(94)90071-x</u>
- 179. Graham, K., et al., *The effect of the Safer Bars programme on physical aggression in bars: results of a randomized controlled trial*. Drug and Alcohol Review, 2004. **23**(1): p. 31-41 https://doi.org/10.1080/09595230410001645538
- 180. Johnsson, K.O. and M. Berglund, *Education of key personnel in student pubs leads to a decrease in alcohol consumption among the patrons: a randomized controlled trial.* Addiction, 2003.
 98(5): p. 627-33 <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2003.00383.x</u>
- 181. Buka, S.L. and I.J. Birdthistle, Long-term effects of a community-wide alcohol server training intervention. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 1999. 60(1): p. 27-36 <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1999.60.27</u>
- 182. Ker, K. and P. Chinnock, *Interventions in the alcohol server setting for preventing injuries.* Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2008. **2008**(3): p. Cd005244 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005244.pub3</u>
- 183. Jones, L., et al., *Reducing harm in drinking environments: A systematic review of effective approaches.* Health & Place, 2011. **17**(2): p. 508-518 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.12.006
- 184. Danaher, B.G., et al., *Development and process evaluation of a Web-based responsible beverage service training program.* Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 2012. **7**: p. 41 https://doi.org/10.1186/1747-597x-7-41
- 185. O'Donnell, A., et al., *The Impact of Brief Alcohol Interventions in Primary Healthcare: A Systematic Review of Reviews.* Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2014. **49**(1): p. 66-78 https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agt170
- 186. Moyer, V.A., Screening and behavioral counseling interventions in primary care to reduce alcohol misuse: U.S. preventive services task force recommendation statement. Annals of Internal Medicine, 2013. 159(3): p. 210-8 <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-159-3-201308060-00652</u>
- 187. Elzerbi, C., K. Donoghue, and C. Drummond, A comparison of the efficacy of brief interventions to reduce hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption between European and non-European countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Addiction, 2015. **110**(7): p. 1082-1091 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12960</u>
- 188. Kaner, E.F., et al., Personalised digital interventions for reducing hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption in community-dwelling populations. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2017. 9(9): p. Cd011479 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011479.pub2</u>



- Beyer, F.R., et al., *The Cochrane 2018 Review on Brief Interventions in Primary Care for Hazardous and Harmful Alcohol Consumption: A Distillation for Clinicians and Policy Makers.* Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2019. 54(4): p. 417-427 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agz035</u>
- 190. Tanner-Smith, E.E. and M.W. Lipsey, *Brief Alcohol Interventions for Adolescents and Young Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 2015.
 51: p. 1-18 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2014.09.001</u>
- 191. Day, E. and C. Daly, *Clinical management of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome*. Addiction, 2022. **117**(3): p. 804-814 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15647</u>
- 192. Finney, J.W., A.C. Hahn, and R.H. Moos, *The effectiveness of inpatient and outpatient treatment for alcohol abuse: the need to focus on mediators and moderators of setting effects.* Addiction, 1996. **91**(12): p. 1773-96; discussion 1803-20 <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.1996.911217733.x</u>
- 193. Osborne, A.K., et al., *Military service and alcohol use: a systematic narrative review.* Occupational Medicine, 2022. **72**(5): p. 313-323 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqac045</u>
- 194. Fazel, S., I.A. Yoon, and A.J. Hayes, Substance use disorders in prisoners: an updated systematic review and meta-regression analysis in recently incarcerated men and women. Addiction, 2017.
 112(10): p. 1725-1739 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13877</u>
- 195. Smith-Bernardin, S.M., et al., *Scoping review of managed alcohol programs*. Harm Reduction Journal, 2022. **19**(1): p. 82 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-022-00646-0</u>
- 196. Crépault, J., et al., *Why Ontario needs a provincial alcohol strategy.* 2017, Centre for Addictions and Mental Health: Toronto, Ontario
- 197. World Health Organization, *Global status report on alcohol and health 2018*. 2018, World Health Organization,: Geneva.
- 198. Baumberg, B. and P. Anderson, *The European strategy on alcohol: A landmark and a lesson*. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2007. **42**(1): p. 1-2 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agl105</u>
- 199. McCambridge, J., *A user's guide to the 2012 Alcohol Strategy for England and Wales: A commentary on the commentaries.* Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 2012. **19**(5): p. 377-378 <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09687637.2012.712166</u>
- 200. Kickbusch, I., L. Allen, and C. Franz, *The commercial determinants of health.* The Lancet Global Health, 2016. **4**(12): p. e895-e896 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30217-0</u>
- 201. Beeston, C., et al., *Monitoring and Evaluating Scotland's Alcohol Strategy. Final Report*. 2016, NHS Health Scotland: Edinburgh.
- 202. Drummond, D.C., *An alcohol strategy for England: the good, the bad and the ugly*. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 2004. **39**(5): p. 377-379 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agh087</u>
- 203. Neufeld, M., et al., Russia's National Concept to Reduce Alcohol Abuse and Alcohol-Dependence in the Population 2010-2020: Which Policy Targets Have Been Achieved? International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 2020. 17(21) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17218270</u>
- 204. Berdzuli, N., et al., *Alcohol Control Policy in Europe: Overview and Exemplary Countries.* International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 2020. **17**(21) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17218162</u>
- 205. Neufeld, M., et al., *Alcohol policy has saved lives in the Russian Federation*. International Journal of Drug Policy, 2020. **80**: p. 102636 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.102636</u>
- 206. Public Health Scotland. *Monitoring and Evaluating Scotland's Alcohol Strategy (MESAS)*. 2023; Available from: <u>https://www.healthscotland.scot/health-topics/alcohol/monitoring-and-evaluating-scotlands-alcohol-strategy-mesas</u>.
- 207. Scottish Government, *Alcohol Framework 2018: Preventing Harm*. 2018.
- 208. World Health Organization, *International guide for monitoring alcohol consumption and related harm*. 2000: Geneva.



- 209. World Health Organization. *Monitoring national policies related to alcohol consumption and harm reduction (MOPAC)*. [cited 2023; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/europe/activities/monitoring-national-policies-related-to-alcohol-consumption-and-harm-reduction-(mopac)</u>.
- 210. Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat. *Supporting Effective Evaluations: A Guide to Developing Performance Measurement Strategies*. 2004; Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/treasury-board-secretariat/services/audit-evaluation/centre-</u> <u>excellence-evaluation/guide-developing-performance-measurement-strategies.html</u>.
- 211. Oxman, A., et al., *SUPPORT Tools for evidence-informed health Policymaking (STP) 10: Taking equity into consideration when assessing the findings of a systematic review.* Health Research and Policy Systems, 2009. **7**(Supp 1): p. S10 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-4505-7-S1-S10</u>
- 212. Canadian Institute for Health Information, *Alcohol harm in Canada. Examining hospitalizations entirely caused by alcohol and strategies to reduce alcohol harm.* 2017, CIHI: Ottawa, ON.
- 213. Schmidt, L., et al., *Alcohol: Equity and social determinants.*, in *Equity, Social Determinants and Public Health Programmes*, E. Blas and A.S. Kurup, Editors. 2010, World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 214. Campanella, P., et al., *The impact of Public Reporting on clinical outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* BMC Health Services Research, 2016. **16**: p. 296-296 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1543-y
- 215. Smith, M.A., et al., *Public reporting helped drive quality improvement in outpatient diabetes care among Wisconsin physician groups.* Health affairs (Project Hope), 2012. **31**(3): p. 570-577 https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0853
- 216. Berwick, D., B. James, and M. Coye, *Connections between quality measurement and improvement*. Medical Care, 2003. **41**(Supple. 1): p. 130-138 <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-200301001-00004</u>
- 217. Buykx, P., et al., *An examination of public attitudes towards alcohol policy*. 2016, University of Sheffield and Cancer Research: UK.